IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEMETRIS OMARR THOMAS,

Appellant,

v. Case No. **SC00-1092**

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. ______

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER

DAVID A. DAVIS

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER **0271543** LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a capital case, and Demetris O'Marr Thomas is the defendant/appellant. The record on appeal consists of 17 volumes of pleadings and transcripts. Thomas will refer to it by noting the volume and page number, e.g. (14 R 1026), where 14 is the volume and 1026 is the page.

Thomas' mental retardation dominates this brief. Besides the lengthy argument that the Florida and United States Constitutions bar the execution of the mentally retarded, his intellectual disability surfaces in other guilt and penalty phase issues.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Okaloosa County on October 13, 1997, charged the defendant, Demetris Thomas, with one count of first-degree felony murder, one count of kidnaping with a weapon, and one count of sexual battery with a weapon (1 R 14-15). He pled not guilty to those offenses (1 R 18), and he filed several motions relevant to the death penalty (e.g., 2 R 349-93). Of particular interest to this appeal, he or the State filed the following motions or notices: (1) Motion to suppress statements he made to the police because he was mentally retarded

and could not understand the <u>Miranda</u> rights. (3 R 583-84). Denied (6 R 1213). (2) Notice by the defendant that he intended to present expert testimony of his mental retardation in support of the two statutory mental mitigators and other nonstatutory mitigation (5 R 802). (3) Motion to Determine the Non-applicability of the Death Penalty Based on the Issue of "Proportionality." (7 R 1301).

Thomas proceeded to trial before Judge G. Robert Baron and was found guilty as charged except that the jury found him guilty of kidnaping without using a weapon (10 R 1882). He proceeded to the penalty phase of the trial, and the jury recommended death by a vote of 10-2 (10 R 1881). The court sentenced Thomas to death, and justifying that punishment, it found in aggravation that (1) He had was on felony probation at the time of the murder; (2) He had a previous conviction for another violent felony; (3) The murder was committed during the course of a kidnaping; (4) The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. (11 R 2167-68)

In mitigation, the court found (1) The murder was committed while Thomas was under an extreme mental or emotional disturbance. Great weight. (2) He is mentally retarded with an IQ of 61. Significant weight. (3) He had no relationship with his mother. Slight weight. (4) He obtained a special

certificate or diploma of graduation from high school. He also had good attendance and presented no disciplinary problems. Found as mitigation, but given no weight. (5) He was a good worker as an automobile detailer. Proven but given no weight. (6) Defendant did not flee after the murder. Proven, but rejected as mitigation. (7) All other mitigation that Thomas was a good child. Some weight.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 23, 1997, Demetris Thomas drove a 1986 Buick Regal to a Tom Thumb convenience store in Okaloosa County. He left the car running when he went inside, and when he came out he discovered that someone had stolen it (14 R 538). He reported the theft to the police, but because he never provided enough identifying information, they never considered it a stolen vehicle (14 R 540).

Between three and four a.m. on September 13, 1997, Brandy Howard was talking on an outside telephone at a convenience store in the same county (14 R 498-500). As she used the phone, Thomas drove his grandfather's pickup truck to the store (14 R 501). He saw Howard and wanted to talk with her, but she held up her hand, apparently indicating to him he should wait (14 R 501).

Eventually, they began to talk, during which he snatched her car keys from her, pushed her against her car, and into it, closing the passenger-side door (14 R 504). He walked to the driver's, and as he did so, she opened the door and started to get out. He returned to her side and closed the door again (14 R 511). As he returned to the driver's side, she again opened her door, and Thomas, yet again, returned to the passenger side, leaned inside the window, and closed the door (14 R 511,530). She stayed inside, and he drove away in a "normal manner." (14 R 526). As the couple left, she smiled at one of the store clerks who was working outside the store (14 R 506). The clerk assumed everything was okay, and "they're just having an argument." (14 R 506).

Several hours later her badly battered body was found at a construction site (13 R 297,308). She had received at least seventeen blows to the face, seven or eight of which would have been fatal (14 R 415,419). Most of them were probably inflicted by an eight-foot long scaffolding brace and with such force that several teeth were knocked out (14 R 410,412,413). She may have been conscious for some of the blows, though the fatal ones would have caused instantaneous unconsciousness (14 R 427). She also had what appeared to be defensive wounds (14 R 408,412), although the medical examiner admitted they could have been offensive

injuries as well (14 R 427,434). She may also have been hit on the side of her head with a hand or fist (14 R 416). There was no evidence of any sexual trauma (14 R 431).

At trial, Janice Johnson, a "blood splatter" expert, testified that only Thomas' blood was on the inside of the car (15 R 611) and a cement mixer near it (15 R 611), while Howard's blood was located on the body of the vehicle, and around Howard's body and the towel found at the hospital (15 R 607, 609-610). None of the victim's blood was found inside the car. She apparently left the vehicle, but, once outside, she was hit so that blood splattered onto the car (15 R 673). She left the area of the car and walked or ran about 109 feet (13 R 343). At that point, she either fell or was knocked down. Where she was beaten until dead (15 R 677-79). Blood was also found on the victim's socks, which were also very dirty and had some type of grass on them (15 684). She had her shoes on when beaten at the construction site (15 R 683).

On September 24, the police executed a search warrant for the home of Thomas, and about 1:30 in the morning, Major Jerome Worley, head of the criminal investigation unit of the Crestview Police Department, lead the search. After reading Thomas his Miranda rights, the latter denied knowing anything about the woman's death (6 R 1091). On the way to the jail, he admitted

having sexual intercourse with her the night before her death, but at the time of the homicide, he was playing cards with some friends (6 R 1092-94).

By the time he got to the jail, and after being confronted with the evidence the police had against him, he changed his story. As recorded and played at his trial, he told Officer Worley that, in July, Brandy was riding with two men who had stopped him (15 R 731). They beat him badly and took his car (15 R 731-32).

On Friday evening, September 13, Thomas was playing cards with some friends, visiting, and drinking. About three in the morning, he left to go home, and on the way there, he saw Brandy talking on a telephone at a Tom Thumb store. He wanted to talk to her about the night he had been beaten, so he pulled into the store's parking lot. She tried to put him off, but he got her keys and forced her to her car. That is, he "wasn't pulling her, she was coming along." (15 R 735). He drove around for a while, eventually stopping behind a hospital. They talked for a while, and eventually had sexual intercourse, during which her nose started to bleed (15 R 740). They got back in the car and drove around some more, stopping at a construction site. Then for the first time, he asked her about the earlier incident. She got out of the car, and told him she did not want to talk about it. "She

started screaming and hollering ... She was picking up bricks and stuff, throwing them at me and stuff She just got crazy, man" (15 R 737-38). Thomas wanted to leave, "but that damn pipe, she picked up a pipe. When she hit me on the side of the face with that damned pipe, you know it wasn't hard but it was enough to just make you mad as hell, man." (15 R 738-39). She fled, and something clicked inside Thomas. He "went nuts" and beat her to death with an eight-foot long scaffolding brace (15 R 630,739)

Afterwards, Thomas fled on foot. He eventually flagged down a man driving a truck who gave him a ride to the Tom Thumb convenience store (15 R 741).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I. The State, relying on a bizarre concatentation of circumstantial evidence, tried to prove that Thomas had sexually battered Brandy Howard. Its proof utterly failed to do so. None of Howard's blood was found inside her car, and the medical examiner found no evidence of forceful trauma to her vagina. Likewise, none of the scrapings taken from her fingernails had the defendant's DNA. Much more significant than the lack of evidence, none of what the State presented, as sparse as it was, refuted the defendant's claim that Howard willingly had intercourse with Thomas.

ISSUE II. Similarly, the State had few facts, and none sufficient to withstand a motion for a judgment of acquittal, that proved Thomas had kidnapped Howard. At most, he falsely imprisoned her, but nothing came from the State to establish that he did so with the intent to either kill or sexually batter her.

ISSUE III. It is cruel to execute a mentally retarded defendant, such as Thomas, whose intelligence places him among the dullest two percent of the American population and who lacks the basic intelligence to make him the very most morally culpable of defendants.

It is unusual to put them to death because in the last twenty-five years America has executed almost seven hundred men and women, and of those, fewer than forty were retarded. In Florida, we have executed 49 men and women, but none of them have been mentally retarded.

Finally, our national and state history of treating the mentally retarded clearly demonstrates that we have rejected the early twentieth century models of criminal neglect and abysmal treatment of this group. Since the watershed legislation of 1975, Florida has shown them considerably more compassion, understanding, and kindness. Our evolving standards of decency have moved us, as a state and a nation, beyond executing the mentally retarded.

ISSUE IV. The court found that Thomas knowingly and intelligently waived his Miranda rights before confessing to the murder of Brandy Howard. The totality of the circumstances, however, shows the opposite. He has such extreme intellectual deficiencies that he never understood the key words and concepts used in the rights form. He reads at a second or third grade level, but to understand the rights, he had to have a sixth grade reading ability. The police never took any steps to insure he understood his rights. Instead they took measures to insure his cooperation. Finally, Thomas, because of his low intellectual functioning and past experiences with Major Worley, saw him as a friend and ally. He was, therefore, more trusting of the police officer and willing to please him.

ISSUE V. In sentencing Thomas to death, the court found as mitigation that the defendant had obtained a "certificate of graduation" and he had good attendance at school and had presented no disciplinary problems. Additionally, it found he had been a good worker. It erred in never explaining why it gave these legitimate mitigators no weight.

ISSUE VI. Dr. James Larson, a psychologist, testified that Thomas' capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. The State tried to get him to qualify

that conclusion, but he never wavered from it. The trial court, however refused to find this statutory mental mitigator. No evidence, however, supports that conclusion.

ISSUE VII. A death sentence for this mentally retarded defendant is proportionately unwarranted. Three of aggravating factors, lack the dark quality required to justify a death sentence. While the court also found Thomas committed the murder in an especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner, his mental deficits substantially decreased its significance. On the other hand, the trial court found he had killed Brandy Howard while under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance, the murder was a "situational heat of the moment type murder," and he was mentally retarded, among other mitigators. This mitigation, unlike the aggravators, defines and captures the essential nature of this murder, and their quality, unlike that of the aggravators, is so strong that this Court must find that Thomas' death sentence as disproportionate to other similarly situated defendants.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING THOMAS' MOTION FOR A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL BECAUSE THE STATE'S CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE NEVER EXCLUDED THE REASONABLE VERSION OF THE EVENTS THAT THE DEFENDANT AND MS. HOWARD HAD CONSENSUAL SEXUAL INTERCOURSE, A VIOLATION OF HIS FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

Simply put, the State's case that Thomas sexually battered Brandy Howard does not make much sense. Its scenario is bizarre and the facts simply fail to support its version of what happened. The jury, however, convicted the defendant, but they did so because he admitted killing her, though unintentionally, and the photographs of her body were, as one juror muttered, gory (13 R 325). On the other hand, Thomas' confession presented a believable story, and more significantly, the evidence supported it.

While the defendant admitted killing Howard, he denied raping her, so the State had to rely on the circumstances of the crime to disprove his claim. In addition to this issue involving a de novo standard of review, Landis v. Allstate Ins. Co., 546 So. 2d 1051 (Fla. 1989), this Court must also employ the special set of rules it has developed whenever the prosecution has obtained a conviction based on circumstantial evidence.

To prove a fact by circumstantial evidence, the evidence must be inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence. Further, to establish premeditation by circumstantial evidence, the state's evidence must be inconsistent with every other reasonable inference. The question of whether the evidence fails to exclude all reasonable hypotheses of innocence is to be decided by the jury. Cochran v. State, 547 So. 2d 928, 930 (Fla. 1989). However, the jury need not believe the defense version of facts on which the state has produced conflicting evidence. Id.

Woods v. State, 733 So. 2d 980, 985 (Fla. 1999); McArthur v.
State, 351 So. 2d 972 (Fla. 1977); State v. Law, 559 So. 2d 187
(Fla. 1990).

As applied to cases such as this where the key issue focuses on whether Howard consented to having sexual intercourse with Thomas the "[c]ircumstantial evidence must lead 'to a reasonable and moral certainty" that she never did so." Kirkland v. State, 684 So. 2d 732, 734 (Fla. 1996); See, also Hall v. State, 90 Fla. 719, 729, 107 So. 246, 247 (1925). Cox v. State, 555 So. 2d 352, 353 (Fla. 1990). Suspicions, even strong suspicions of the defendant's guilt are insufficient, as a matter of law, to support a conviction as long as the evidence supports a theory that she agreed to have sex with him. Id. Similarly, the State must present evidence, not theories, to rebut the defendant's hypothesis of innocence.

We first note that the State had very little evidence to work with to show that the defendant had raped Howard. It first

argued that Thomas kidnapped Howard from a convenience store.³ Then it contended that he took her to the remote area about 1.5 miles away and behind a local hospital where he beat and raped her, ostensibly vaginally, anally, and orally (16 R 920-21).⁴ As evidence of the beating there, the State pointed to the blood that was found on the car (16 R 920). After sexually battering her, he put her back in her car and drove another 1.5 miles to a construction site (16 R 920-21). She fled from him, but he found an eight-foot long scaffolding brace, ran after her, and beat her to death (16 R 917). He then left the scene.

Thomas generally agreed with the sequence of events; he disagreed with the prosecution's conclusions. Howard left with him willingly enough, and they went to the hospital area. He wanted to talk with her about his stolen car, but matters turned towards sex, and she willingly engaged in sexual intercourse with him (15 R 735). Only after they had put their clothes on and left did Thomas raise the stolen car problem. He pulled into the construction site, and as he tried to talk with her, she began acting crazy. She threw things at him, and she hit him on the head with a pipe (15 R 737-39). The blow cut the defendant because his blood was found on a cement mixer and on

³ Thomas contests that proof in ISSUE II.

⁴ See, State's exhibit 31.

the ground at the crime scene. Also, his aunt noticed a welt on his head (15 R 611, 16 R 877). Something "clicked" inside Thomas, and he grabbed the brace and beat Howard to death (15 R 738). He left the body in the middle of the street and fled. Hence, Howard bled on the car, not at the hospital, but at the construction site.

The blood and dirt found on the socks Howard wore makes this more believable. That is significant because her shoes were on her feet when the body was found, and the blood found on the socks was on its soles and other places normally covered by shoes. The socks were also dirty, as if she had walked in them (13 R 391). Howard had to have taken off her shoes, and most likely she did so when she removed her pants so she could have sex with Thomas. Of course, Thomas, during a rape, could have done that, but he certainly would not have put them back on. More reasonably, after she had sex with the defendant she put them on.

Morover, Thomas said her nose began to bleed during intercourse, and that explained how her blood got on the socks (15 R 739-40). Supporting that claim, one of Howard's friends testified that Howard frequently had nose bleeds (16 R 820). Hence, her nose may have bled and drops of blood landed on her socks. Using a small towel or rag, she stopped the bleeding and

left it at the hospital area where the police later found it (14 R 454, 463; 15 R 622). That certainly, reasonably explains the evidence, and does so better than the State's theory. More pertinent, the prosecution presented no evidence showing that was patently wrong. <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 323, 329 (Fla. 1991).

Moreover, the police should have found Howard's blood inside her car. They discovered large stains on the outside of the passenger door. If Thomas beat and raped her as the State contended and then put her back into the car to transport her to almost two miles away, her blood, and a lot of it, should have been found inside, on the seat, on the floorboards, and on the inside door. Yet, the evidence technicians found only the defendant's blood, and little of that, on the interior surfaces (15 R 606, 611, 613-14,). None of those few stains matched those of the victim, a critical weakness in the State's theory of what happened.

Other evidence, or more correctly, the lack of it, supports Thomas' explanation of events. The medical examiner found no signs of any trauma to Howard's vagina. Of course he found

 $^{^5\,}$ One state witness said there were some brown blood type stains on the car's headliner, but he never positively identified it as blood, much less that if it was blood it was Howard's type ($14\,$ R $\,573$, $\,591)$.

sperm there, but that discovery is as consistent with Thomas' claim of consensual sex as the State's theory of sexual battery (15 R 586). Likewise, the very little or "rare" amounts found in her mouth or anus prove nothing because he never identified it as coming from Thomas or having been forcefully put there (14 R 588, 15 R 709).

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