IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEMETRIS OMARR THOMAS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. SC00-1092

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 159089

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

On September 17, 1997, between 3 and 5 AM, Thomas created a horrendous trail of coercion and terror, punctuated at several points with spatters and pools of the victim's blood. At about 3 AM, a neutral witness observed Thomas snatch the victim's keys from her, coerce her into the victim's car, continue to confine her there as the victim opened the door three times and Thomas closed it three times, and then drive her away. He drove to remote locations, where he beat, strangled, raped, chased down, and pounded the victim to death with an eight-foot scaffolding brace. As she lay helpless on the road trying to fend off Thomas' blows, he ripped parts of her fingernails and literally knocked teeth out of her head, flinging one several feet away.

When the police closed in on Thomas as the perpetrator, he attempted to explain the facts the police revealed to him, revising his story as the police revealed more of their knowledge to him, but his revised story nevertheless failed to account for all of the facts the police were able to ultimately gather. His story falls of its own weight due to those conflicts, as well as its obviously concocted nature. His stories show his consciousness of guilt.

In spite of the compelling evidence to the contrary, Thomas argues that the State did not sufficiently prove Sexual Battery (ISSUE I) or Kidnapping (ISSUE II). According to Thomas, in the midst of his abducting, confining, beating, blood-spattering, and strangling the victim, he had no intent to do these things, and she engaged in consensual sex. Simply put, this is not a reasonable hypothesis.

Thomas also argues that he was too retarded to constitutionally waive his Miranda rights and talk to the police (ISSUE IV) and too retarded to sentence to death (ISSUE III). Facts and law belie his claims. Thomas' cognitive and adaptive abilities exceeded his IQ score according to his own expert. Indeed, for their validity, such scores depend upon the best efforts of the subject, and Thomas' statements already showed his attempts to manipulate facts. Thomas proved his current cognitive adaptability with the revisions of his story that persistently attempted to paint his actions in a light less culpable than the facts would otherwise indicate. Moreover, the trial court properly factored Thomas' mental deficiencies (ISSUE VI) and other mitigators (ISSUE V) into its sentencing decision.

In sum, the trial court's decision to follow the jury's 10-2 recommendation of death and its conclusion that the four aggravators (HAC, prior violent felony, on felony probation, committed during kidnapping) outweighed the mitigation is

supported by the record and justified when compared to other cases (ISSUE VII).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL OF THE SEXUAL BATTERY CHARGE BECAUSE THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE NON-CONSENT? (Restated)

Moreover, constitutional arguments are not developed on appeal. <u>See Bryan v. Dugger</u>, 641 So.2d 61, 63 (Fla. 1994) ("deficiencies listed in issue nine do not allege sufficient facts to demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel"); <u>U.S. v. Wiggins</u>, 104 F.3d 174, 177 n. 2 (8th Cir. 1997) ("Failure to specify error or provide citations in support of an argument constitutes waiver, ... so we decline to reach the propriety of the district court's actions in this regard"); <u>U.S. v. Dawn</u>, 129 F.3d 878, 881 n. 3 (7th Cir. 1997) ("Dawn

Thomas attaches several claimed constitutional violations to ISSUE I. These were not raised below (See XV 780-94, XVI 901), and, therefore, they are not preserved for appellate review. See White v. State, 753 So.2d 548, 549 (Fla. 1999) ("this argument [state Constitutional due process] was not raised to the trial court or to the district court of appeal during the direct appeal from his conviction ... we decline to consider this argument because White has not preserved this issue for review"); Knight v. State, 721 So.2d 287, 296 (Fla. 1998) ("Knight claims ... violation of the confidentiality provision of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.211, Knight's Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination, and his Sixth Amendment right to counsel"; "never raised the confidentiality provision, Fifth Amendment, or Sixth Amendment issues in the trial court ... those sub-claims are procedurally barred"); Melbourne v. State, 679 So.2d 759, 765 (Fla. 1996)(jury selection claim waived if not renewed "before the jury was sworn"); James v. State, 615 So.2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993) ("Claims that the instruction on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator is unconstitutionally vague are procedurally barred unless a specific objection on that ground is made at trial and pursued on appeal"); <u>Hill v. State</u>, 549 So.2d 179, 182 (Fla. 1989) ("constitutional argument grounded on due process and Chambers was not presented to the trial court. Failure to present the ground below procedurally bars appellant from presenting the argument on appeal").

The jury convicted Thomas of Sexual Battery (XVII 1016), and the trial court adjudged him guilty of it (XI 2158).²

ISSUE I attacks the Sexual Battery conviction, essentially arguing (IB 16) that the State produced "no evidence that refuted" consent. To the contrary, the State will argue that evidence showed that Thomas' force and violence permeated about a two-hour period, culminating in the murder and Thomas' multiple lies attempting to cover it up.

At about 3 or 4 AM, Thomas forcibly snatched the victim's keys from her hand, forced her into her car, forcibly kept her in her car as she tried to exit three times, hit her and drove her in her car to a remote location behind a hospital, had sex with her there, at that rape scene inflicted injuries on the victim yielding large quantities of her blood, then drove her to a second remote location and, as she tried to run away, brutally beat her to death with an eight-foot metal scaffolding brace. In the midst of this two-hour trail of coercion, blood, and agony, Thomas posits his self-serving,

^{...} argues that sentencing on the basis of his conduct abroad would violate his due process rights because he lacked notice that he would be held responsible for that conduct"; "has left this argument undeveloped, however, and consequently we need not address it").

The trial court did not use the Sexual Battery as an aggravator, but rather, used Kidnapping, which is attacked in ISSUE II. (See XI 2167).

unreasonable, and ineffectual speculation that the victim consented to the sexual intercourse.

Standard of Appellate Review.

No matter how one views extant case law, Thomas' position (IB 10) that <u>de novo</u> is the applicable standard of appellate review is incorrect. <u>Tibbs v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 1120, 1123 (Fla. 1981), enunciated the

general proposition[] [that] an appellate court should not retry a case or reweigh conflicting evidence submitted to a jury or other trier of fact. Rather, the concern on appeal must be whether, after all conflicts in the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom have been resolved in favor of the verdict on appeal, there is substantial, competent evidence to support the verdict and judgment. Legal sufficiency alone, as opposed to evidentiary weight, is the appropriate concern of an appellate tribunal.

The State contends that <u>Tibbs</u>' principle applies to Thomas' challenges to the sufficiency of the State's evidence to prove Sexual Battery (ISSUE I), as well as his challenge to Kidnapping (ISSUE II).

Appellant argues that Florida's circumstantial-evidence test does not, test applies here. The circumstantial-evidence test does not, however, constitute review de novo. Instead, it requires that "the evidence [be] inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence," Mungin v. State, 689 So.2d 1026, 1029 (Fla. 1995), rather than the standard test for sufficiency that "a

Miller v. State, 770 So.2d 1144, 1149 (Fla. 2000), upheld the "circumstantial evidence standard" of <u>State v. Law</u>, 559 So.2d 187, 188 (Fla. 1989).

rational trier of fact could have found proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt," Melendez v. State, 498 So.2d 1258, 1261 (Fla. 1986). The State contends that the circumstantial-evidence does not apply here because the State's case was not wholly circumstantial and that, therefore, the State was required only to prove that a rational jury "could have found proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt."

Orme v. State, 677 So.2d 258, 261 (Fla. 1996), enunciated the phases of the analysis:

[0]ur analysis of this case must begin by determining the threshold question of whether the case against Orme was **wholly** circumstantial.

Here, far from being "wholly circumstantial," direct evidence included Janet Money eyewitnessing (See XIV 497 et seq.)

Thomas' abduction of the victim from the Tom Thumb Store at approximately 3-4 AM, and Thomas eventually admitting⁴ (XIV 448-51, 462-65, XV 726-27, 734-39) being at the crime scenes of his sexual intercourse with the victim and his murder of her. In addition, Thomas' blood was found in the victim's car

Admissions are considered direct evidence. <u>See J.B. v. State</u>, 705 So.2d 1376, 1379 (Fla. 1998) ("J.B.'s admission that the substance he possessed was 'beer' is direct evidence"); <u>Moore v. State</u>, 701 So.2d 545, 550 (Fla. 1997) (discussion of harmless error; "there was direct evidence from other witnesses that Moore possessed a gun on the actual day of the murder and direct evidence that Moore shot the victim"); <u>Smith v. State</u>, 699 So.2d 629, 644-45 (Fla. 1997) (discussion of harmless error; "direct evidence of Smith's guilt from his own confession"; "admitted participating in the initial crimes and retrieving duct tape from his stepfather's toolbox to bind the victims ... admitted that he was on the bridges when the victims were thrown into the water").

at several locations and at the murder scene.⁵ Here, there is much more than the "direct evidence presented by the State plac[ing] Orme at the scene of the crime around the time of Redd's death," 677 So.2d 261-62.

In any event and under any standard, the State's evidence did rebut consensual sex.

Evidence Sufficiently Proving Non-Consensual Sex.6

Section 794.011(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1997), provides the applicable definition of consent:

(a) "Consent" means intelligent, knowing, and voluntary consent and does not include coerced submission. "Consent" shall not be deemed or construed to mean the failure by the alleged victim to offer physical resistance to the offender.

Here, although unnecessary under this statute, the State proved not only non-consent but "physical resistance." Thomas' coercion and a "physical resistance" that produced his blood and her blood at multiple locations permeated events within the two early-morning hours of September 13, 1997. Evidence showed that, in that period, Thomas-

Technically, the experts opined in terms of a probability of 1 in 6,800 for three smudges in the victim's car and the flung-blood at the murder scene (XV 611) and 1 in 24 billion for Thomas' sperm in the victim's vagina (XV 708).

The discussion of the facts here is extensive because it lays the groundwork for several other issues.

- Argued with victim at the Tom Thumb store, as Janet Money⁷ testified: "[T]hey're gesturing like they're talking or fussing about something. Like tense, like not relaxed, just kind of tense like" (XIV 510) and "[T]hey were having an argument" (XIV 525); although Money is operating a noisy leaf blower," she hears the victim yell "Hey" (XIV 506, 512); 8
- Forcibly "snatched" the victim's keys from her, as Janet Money witnessed and as Thomas admitted to the police (XIV 468, 504, XV 734);
- Forced the victim into her car, 9 as Janet Money testified that he pushed her into the car through the passenger door and closed the door (XIV 508, 504);

Although Money did not identify Thomas at trial, his identity as the person interacting with the victim at the Tom Thumb store and at her car is undisputed. (See also defense counsel's closing argument at XVI 946-67)

Money also testified that the victim "appeared to smile" (XIV 507), but it was "[1]ike a smile" (XIV 508), she did not remember the victim showing her teeth (XIV 507), and she could not hear what Thomas was telling the victim at that time due to the noisy blower (See XIV 505-506). Most importantly, whatever face the victim made was prior to Thomas forcing the victim into the car and forcing her to stay there. (See XIV 506, 520: the assumed smile was when the victim said "Hey," catching Money's attention again).

Thomas told the police that he "pulled her to the car" (XIV 462), that he "had her get inside her vehicle on the passenger side" (XV 726), and that "I had her, like, by the arm. I was just, like pulling her - I wasn't pulling her, you know, she was coming along" (XV 735).

- Forcibly restrained the victim as she opened her door and Thomas closed it, as Money testified that when Thomas walked quickly around to the front of the car to "get around to the other side of the car," she opened her passenger door, and he quickly walked back to the passenger side and re-closed the door (XIV 504-505, 510-11, 522-23, 528);
- Forcibly restrained the victim as she opened her door a second time and Thomas re-closed it a second time, as Money testified that Thomas again started back to the front of the car, and she opened the door again, he quickly came back and closed the door again (XIV 511, 523, 528-29);
- Forcibly restrained the victim as she opened her door a third time and Thomas re-closed it a third time after saying or doing something to the victim while leaning into the passenger side door (XIV 511, 523, 529-30);
- Coerced the victim in the car as he drove her in her car (See XIV 512, 523, 525-26, 530), which, a moment-prior, she tried to exit three times; in the two-early-morning hours, Thomas drove her to two remote locations: an area behind a hospital (See, e.g., XIV 448-49, XV 620-23) and Louise Drive, which was a construction site on a cul-de-

- sac (See, e.g., XIII 304-11, 314 et seq. and exhibits referenced there) 10 ;
- Thus, assured that his malicious intents would not be
 eyewitnessed by driving to the remote locations;¹¹
- Forcibly maintained coercion so as to yield, within two hours, blood spatter on the interior roof of the car immediately above where the victim had been sitting (XIV 564, 573), 12 blood in the lap area of the victim's jeans (XV 677-78), the victim's (XV 607-608) blood and

Thomas may be inferring (IB 15: "one of the homeowners") that more than one of the houses on Louise Drive was occupied. This would be incorrect. Mr. Hopson lived in the only occupied house on Louise Drive, and his was located four houses down from the murder scene. (XIII 310-11) Hopson lived farther down Louise Drive (XIII 311: "way down there") from where Thomas parked the victim's car so Thomas would not have noticed that there was an occupied house.

Concerning Thomas' story that he only wanted to talk to the victim about her supposed involvement in the theft of his car, he did not ask victim to discuss his stolen car at the Tom Thumb, "over coffee," or another public location. <u>See</u> discussions of his statements in this <u>infra</u> and under ISSUE IV infra.

The expert was unable to DNA-type the blood on the passenger-side interior roof of the victim's car (i.e., on its passenger-side headliner) (XIV 589, 591), but an expert testified that it was "forceful blood" spattered at a medium velocity (XV 671), which is normally associated with beatings or stabbings (XV 669); it indicates that a forceful injury/beating occurred inside the car (XV 675); the spatter went straight up from the passenger seat (XV 691-92). Money, the last neutral witness to see the victim alive, placed the victim on the passenger side as Thomas drove the victim (See, e.g., XIV 512, 523) to her death. Thomas' blood was smudged at one location on the passenger side of the car. (Compare "contact stain or transfer stain" at XV 672 with XV 616)

forceful blood spatters (XV 672-74) at multiple sites on the exterior of passenger side of victim's car, a volume of the victim's blood that had pooled on the ground at the hospital scene (See XV 684-85), 13 and injury to the victim indicative of manual strangulation (See XIII 400, XIV 421);

- Provoked resistance on the part of the victim at some point because smears of Thomas' blood were found in the victim's car on the steering wheel, the passenger seat, and the driver's seat (XV 616-17, 672, 675), and a flung-off spatter (XV 686)¹⁴ of Thomas' blood (XV 611) was found on the cement mixer near the victim's car at the Louise Drive site;
- Chased the victim about 109 feet (See XIII 343) as she ran away from him, catching her from behind with a blow

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